690736

69073-6

No. 69073-6

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

LEGACY PARTNERS RIVERPARK APARTMENTS
BUILDINGS A/B LLC; LEGACY PARTNERS RIVERPARK
APARTMENTS BUILDING E LLC, Delaware Limited
Liability Corporations

Appellants,

VS.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, a Municipal Corporation,

Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

William C. Severson
WILLIAM C. SEVERSON PLLC
1001 Fourth Avenue Suite 4400
Seattle, WA 98154-1192
(206) 838-4191
bill@seversonlaw.com
Attorney for Appellants

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal involves a property tax refund lawsuit brought pursuant to Chapter 84.68 RCW. The taxpayers seek a refund of taxes paid as a result of untimely and unlawful increases to the assessed value of improvements located on two condominium parcels.

During 2009 and 2010, plaintiffs completed construction of two new condominium buildings at the Riverpark development in Redmond, Washington. While property is normally assessed for tax purposes at its value as of January 1st each year, RCW 36.21.080 authorizes county assessors to value new construction as of July 31st and to list that steppedup value on the assessment rolls "up to August 31st" of that year. Here, the Assessor failed to list plaintiffs' new construction by the August 31st deadline. Instead, the improvements on each parcel were assessed at only \$1,000. When the Assessor belatedly discovered these oversights, he revised the assessments to increase the improvement values to reflect the new construction. Those revisions, however, were untimely and unlawful. The Assessor's authority to list new construction at a stepped-up, mid-year value expires on August 31st. If the new construction is not listed by that date, the property is to be assessed under the general rule at its value as of January 1<sup>st</sup>, just like all other property.

The Assessor's revisions to the 2009 assessments were doubly invalid because the assessment rolls for 2009 were closed and tax bills had already been issued before the revisions were made. Once the assessment rolls are closed, assessors can correct omissions only as specifically authorized by RCW 84.40.080. It is undisputed that RCW 84.40.080 does not authorize an assessment of the omitted new construction value on plaintiffs' property. To attempt to get around this roadblock, the Assessor argues that the omitted value can be retroactively listed and assessed as a "manifest error" correction under RCW 84.48.065.2 That argument, as will be shown, is contrary to the plain language of the statutes, contrary to their statutory history, and contrary to long established precedent. RCW 84.48.065 does not authorize retroactive assessments to add new

construction value that was omitted from the original assessment roll.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in determining that county assessors have authority to list new construction value on the assessment rolls after August 31<sup>st</sup> of the assessment year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 84.40.080 is set out in Appendix 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 84.48.065 is set out in Appendix 3.

- The trial court erred in determining that the November 3,
   2010 revisions to plaintiffs' 2010 assessments were timely.
- The trial court erred in determining that RCW 84.48.065
   authorizes county assessors to retroactively increase improvement values
   listed on the assessment rolls after the rolls have closed.
- 4. The trial court erred in concluding that the revisions made by the Assessor in May 2010 to the 2009 assessed value of the improvements on plaintiffs' properties did not involve appraisal judgment.
- The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to
   Defendant King County.
- 6. The trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment to plaintiffs.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assessments of Error

- Do assessors have authority to list new construction value on the assessment rolls after August 31<sup>st</sup> of the assessment year?
- Even if the August 31<sup>st</sup> listing deadline for listing new construction is not mandatory, are the assessments at issue in this case nevertheless invalid because the Assessor failed to substantially comply with statutory requirements?
- 3. Does RCW 84.48.065 authorize the retroactive valuation increases that the Assessor made to the improvement values listed for plaintiffs' properties on the 2009 assessment roll?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Facts

Plaintiffs are the owners of two residential condominium buildings that are part of a new multipurpose development in Redmond, Washington known as Riverpark. Plaintiff Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Building A/B LLC owns Building A/B, which was assessed as parcel 733805-0010 ("parcel 0010"). CP 14 at 48. Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Building E LLC owns Building E, which was assessed as parcel 733805-0040 ("parcel 0040"). CP 14 at 48.

Construction work at Riverpark began in 2007 and was completed during 2009 and 2010.<sup>3</sup> Although the Assessor was aware of the new construction underway at Riverpark, the new construction value was not listed on assessment rolls by August 31<sup>st</sup> in either 2009 or 2010. CP 6 at 9-10. Rather, in both years the improvements on each parcel were initially assessed at \$1,000. CP 6 at 9-10.

Facts Regarding the 2009 Assessment

In June 2009, a staff appraiser in the Assessor's office prepared proposed new construction values of \$16,129,600 for parcel 0010 (Building A/B) and \$14,135,900 for parcel 0040 (Building E). CP 14 at

<sup>3</sup> The certificate of occupancy for Building E was issued in August 2009. CP 14 at 54-55. The certificate of occupancy for Buildings A/B was issued in March 2010. CP 14 at 52.

- 4 -

127; CP 17 at 204. Those values, however, were not posted to the assessment rolls because the Assessor's computer system blocked postings of value increases of more than thirty percent until the new value was reviewed and approved by a senior appraiser. CP 14 at 159; CP 17 at 205. In the ordinary case, the assigned senior appraiser would release the hold after a cursory review of the proposed increase. CP 17 at 205; CP 14 at 134. However, as a result of confusion caused by personnel changes in the Assessor's office, the holds on the proposed value increases for the Riverpark parcels were not released. CP 14 at 132. The 2009 assessment roll was finalized with a \$1,000 improvement value for each of the parcels. CP 17 at 204-205.

The Assessor's office did not become aware that the new construction on plaintiffs' parcels had not been listed until late April, 2010. CP 14 at 132. By then, the 2009 assessment rolls had closed, taxes based on the original \$1,000 improvement values had been billed, and the first half taxes had been paid. CP 17 at 205; CP 14 at 60-61. Nevertheless, and over the property owners' objections, the Assessor retroactively revised the 2009 improvement values to increase the improvement values

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This computer hold, referred to as a Code 17, enforced an office policy that required senior appraiser review and approval for assessments where the value increased by more than 30 percent or decreased by more than 25 percent as compared to the prior year assessed value. CP 17 at 205.

to the levels previously proposed by the staff appraiser. CP 17 at 206. Substitute second-half 2010 tax bills, with an October 31, 2010 due date, were then issued for the additional taxes on this increased value. CP 14 at 66-67. Plaintiffs paid those taxes under protest. CP 14 at 69-71.

Facts Regarding the 2010 Assessment

For the 2010 assessment year, the Assessor again initially valued the improvements on the Riverpark parcels at \$1,000. Property value notices with those values were mailed to the plaintiffs on July 15, 2010. CP 14 at 73. Those values remained on the assessment roll until November 3, 2010 when the Assessor revised them to reflect the July 31, 2010 new construction value for the improvements. Notices of these revisions were mailed to plaintiffs on November 11, 2010. CP 14 at 76. Plaintiffs paid the taxes on these assessments under protest, as well. CP 14 at 79-80.

#### B. Procedural Background

The foregoing facts are not disputed. The parties brought crossmotions for summary judgment regarding the validity of the revised assessments. On June 15, 2012, the Honorable Harry McCarthy granted defendant King County's motion for summary judgment and denied

<sup>5</sup> The revised 2010 improvement values were \$13,997,400 for parcel 0010 and \$15,433,300 for parcel 0040. CP 14 at 76.

- 6 -

plaintiffs' motion. Appendix 1. CP 28. Plaintiffs filed their notice of appeal on July 13, 2012. CP 30.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Assessors, like other government officials, have only that authority which is expressly or impliedly delegated to them by the legislature. The statute that grants assessors the authority to assess newly constructed improvements at their value as of July 31<sup>st</sup> is clear and unambiguous. It provides:

The county assessor is authorized to place any property that is increased in value due to construction or alteration for which a building permit was issued, or should have been issued ... on the assessment rolls for the purposes of tax levy up to August 31st of each year. The assessed valuation of the property shall be considered as of July 31st of that year.

RCW 36.21.080. This statute requires no construction. It grants assessors the authority to list new construction at its value as of July 31<sup>st</sup>, but that authority only extends "up to August 31<sup>st</sup>". After that date, assessors have no authority to list new construction at a stepped-up value.

The King County Assessor failed to meet this August 31<sup>st</sup> deadline in both 2009 and 2010. For the 2009 assessments, the new construction value was not added to the rolls until May 2010. For the 2010 assessments, the new construction value was added on November 3, 2010.

These belated new construction assessments were unauthorized and unlawful, and plaintiffs are entitled to have them reversed.

For the 2009 assessments, the County argues that it can get around the August 31<sup>st</sup> listing deadline by styling the revisions as "manifest error" corrections under RCW 84.48.065. That is incorrect. With one exception (which is not relevant here), the manifest errors that can be corrected under RCW 84.48.065 are limited to non-valuation errors. When property or value is erroneously omitted from an assessment roll, as was the case here, the error can be corrected *only* in the circumstances and in the manner specifically authorized by the omit assessment statute, RCW 84.40.080. The County concedes that RCW 84.40.080 does not allow an omit assessment of the 2009 new construction value. That is dispositive.

The County would interpret RCW 84.48.065 as broad authority to correct a wide range of valuation errors after the assessment rolls have closed. The practical effect of that interpretation would be to extend the August 31<sup>st</sup> new construction listing deadline for three years and to all but nullify the express the limitations on omit assessments that are contained in RCW 84.40.080. There is nothing in the language or history of the statutes to support that interpretation. RCW 84.48.065 does not authorize assessors to retroactively increase improvement values after the

assessment rolls of closed. The supplemental assessments of plaintiffs' parcels for 2009 were invalid.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Appellate Review

The appellate court reviews a trial court's summary judgment decision *de novo*. It performs the same inquiry as the trial court, viewing all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Elcon Const., Inc. v. Eastern Washington University*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 164, 273 P.3d 965 (2012). Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id*.

- B. Assessors Have No Authority to List New Construction on the Assessment Rolls after August 31<sup>st</sup> of the Assessment Year
  - 1. RCW 36.21.080 is clear on its face and requires no construction.

RCW 36.21.080 is clear and unambiguous. It authorizes assessors to list new construction on the assessment rolls "up to August 31<sup>st</sup> of each year." Assessors have no authority to list new construction at a July 31<sup>st</sup> value after that date. When a statute is clear on its face, it requires no construction. *Pacific Continental Bank v. Soundview 90, LLC*, 167 Wn.App. 373, 382, 273 P.3d 1009 (2012). RCW 36.21.080 requires no construction.

The procedure for listing new construction at a mid-year value is an exception to the general rule that property be assessed at its value as of January 1 of the assessment year.<sup>6</sup> Such exceptions are "strictly construed and allowed to extend only so far as their language warrants." *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d 221, 232, 559 P.2d 548 (1977). Nothing in the language of RCW 36.21.080 warrants extending the assessors' authority to list new construction beyond August 31<sup>st</sup>.

RCW 36.21.080 means what it says. Assessors have until August 31<sup>st</sup> to place new construction value on the rolls at its stepped-up mid-year value. Once the August 31<sup>st</sup> deadline passes, the property must be assessed at its value as of January 1<sup>st</sup>, just like all other property.

# 2. The August 31<sup>st</sup> deadline for listing new construction is mandatory.

The County argues that assessors can ignore the August 31<sup>st</sup> deadline in RCW 36.21.080 because, under *Niichel v. Lancaster*, 97 Wn.2d 620, 647 P.2d 1021 (1982), statutory deadlines for assessor are merely directory. But *Niichel* does not support the County's argument.

Whether a statutory deadline is mandatory or directory is a statute specific inquiry. Different statutes "necessarily involve[] different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See RCW 84.40.020 ("All real property in this state subject to taxation shall be listed and assessed every year, with reference to its value on the first day of January of the year in which it is assessed.").

questions of legislative intent." Erection Co. v. Department of Labor and Industries, 121 Wn.2d 513, 519-520, 852 P.2d 288 (1993). Niichel addressed the language in RCW 84.40.040 for regular January 1st assessments which states that "[t]he assessor shall also complete the duties of listing and placing valuations on all property by May 31st of each year ...." The court held that "shall" in this context was directory and, therefore, the assessor's failure to list property by May 31st did not invalidate the later assessment. After considering the language and purpose of that statute, the court concluded that the listing timeline for regular assessments was directory because it was only "a guide for the conduct of business and for orderly procedure rather than a limitation of power ...." Niichel, 97 Wn.2d at 624 (quoting Sands, STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION).

RCW 36.21.080, however, is not merely a procedural guide for assessors. It is a *grant* of special statutory authority to treat new construction differently than all other property. Grants of authority are construed strictly. "Wherever the language contains a grant of power, it was intended as a mandate. Wherever the language gives a direction as to the manner of exercising a power, it was intended that the power should be exercised in the manner directed, and in no other manner." *State ex rel. Linn v. Superior Court for King County*, 20 Wn.2d 138, 153, 146 P.2d 543

(1944) (quoting Varney v. Justice, 6 S.W. 457). "Powers conferred upon a public officer can be exercised only in the manner, and under the circumstances, prescribed by law, and any attempted exercise thereof in any other manner or under different circumstances is a nullity." In re Elvigen's Estate, 191 Wash. 614, 623, 71 P.2d 672 (1937) (quoting 46 C.J. 1033, § 290). These rules apply to the grant of authority in RCW 36.21.080. The authority to list new construction at its stepped-up midyear value must be exercised in the manner prescribed.

A grant of authority is jurisdictional. Where a statute specifies the duration of a grant of authority, that term cannot be extended by judicial construction. It is mandatory. *Erection Co.* 121 Wn.2d at 519 (where time limit is stated in jurisdictional context, it is mandatory). The trial court improperly disregarded the express time limit on the grant of authority in RCW 36.21.080. That was error.

The County will cite *State v. Miller*, 32 Wn.2d 149, 201 P.2d 136 (1948) as support for its argument that assessors may disregard the August 31<sup>st</sup> listing deadline. But *Miller* is distinguishable. It involved the interplay of two statutes: one which directed the attorney general to file "such action as is proper in the premises" within thirty days after receiving a report from the state auditor of misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance by a public official, and one which provided that there is no

time limitation on actions brought in the name of the state. In *Miller*, the auditor charged the defendant with expending public funds in violation of the state nepotism statute, and the attorney general followed up with an action in the name of the state to recover the funds. The action, however, was not filed within thirty days of the auditor's report. Miller, the defendant, argued that the action was time barred. The court rejected that argument, explaining that:

It is our opinion that the thirty-day period mentioned in Rem.Rev.Stat. § 9958, was only directory, in that it simply instructed the attorney general to expedite the public business by bringing actions such as the present one within a certain period .... It surely was not the intention of the legislature to allow public officials to escape liability for the illegal expenditure of public funds in the event press of business or other causes resulted in the commencement of actions being delayed.

#### 32 Wn.2d at 156.

The statutory language and policy considerations here are entirely different than in *Miller*. The thirty-day period in *Miller* was not a condition on a grant of jurisdiction, but instead, a direction that the attorney general proceed expeditiously. The *Miller* court determined that there was no reason to treat the statute referencing the thirty-day period as a non-claim statute because there was no reason to bar the attorney general's suit if circumstances delayed the filing of the suit. The opposite is true here. There are good reasons for setting a real deadline for listing

new construction. New construction value is treated differently for tax purposes than other assessed value. It is not subject to the levy limitations imposed by RCW 84.55.010 and, therefore, it increases the aggregate amount of tax that districts may levy. However, new construction listings must be completed timely to allow taxing districts to include that value in determining their tax levies.

RCW 36.21.080 is not merely an exhortation to assessors to act expeditiously. The August 31<sup>st</sup> listing deadline reflects a reasonable legislative judgment as to when new construction listings must be completed in order to permit property taxes to be calculated and imposed in the manner contemplated by law. It is an express condition to the grant of authority to list new construction at a stepped up value. If the County wishes to change that deadline, its remedy lies with the legislature, not the courts. *See Erection Co.*, 121 Wn.2d at 522.

3. The new construction assessments for 2009 and 2010 would be untimely even if the August 31<sup>st</sup> deadline were merely directory.

Even when a statute is merely directory, officials must at least substantially comply with its terms. *Allen v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Thurston County*, 55 Wn.2d 226, 347 P.2d 539 (1959); *State v. Twyman*, 98 Wn.App. 508, 514, 983 P.2d 703, 706 (1999). Substantial compliance means "actual compliance in respect to the substance essential to every

reasonable objective of the statute." *Application of Santore*, 28 Wn.App. 319, 327, 623 P.2d 702 (1981). This includes substantial compliance with the procedural aspects of the statute. *James v. County of Kitsap*, 154 Wn.2d 574, 115 P.3d 286 (2005).

Because new construction affects the amount of tax that districts can levy, its timely listing is crucial. This is the core objective of the August 31<sup>st</sup> listing deadline in RCW 36.21.080. That objective is not met if the new construction is first listed in November, or worse, in May of the following year, after tax bills have already been issued.

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