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

the court, considerable deference will be given to the interpretation 

made by the agency charged with enforcing a statute."); 

Weyerhaeuser v. DOE, 86 Wn.2d 310, 314, 545 P.2d 5 (1976) 

("where the legislature specifically delegates to an administrative 

agency the power to make rules, there is a presumption such rules 

are valid"). Martinelli & Co., Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 80 Wn.App. 

930,937,912 P.2d 521, 524 (1996).11 

Furthermore, if there could any reasonable doubt regarding 

the correctness of the DOR's position, that has been allayed by the 

legislature's decades long acquiescence in it. The WAC definition 

of "manifest error" has been in existence since 1990. None of the 

subsequent amendments to RCW 84.48.065 remotely suggests 

11 Neither the 1877 New York case nor C.J.S. references supplied by Legacy 
provide compelling authority for construing the Washington statutory and rule 
language at issue. Moreover, neither citation stands for the proposition that a 
manifest error correction may not change assessed value, in cases where such a 
change does not involve exercise of appraisal judgment. 
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legislative disagreement with the DaR's longstanding position . See 

Council of Camp Fire v. DaR, 105 Wn.2d 55, 65-66, 711 P.2d 300 

(1985) ("Additional deference should be given to an agency's 

interpretation when the Legislature has amended a statute without 

altering the agency interpretation.") ; State v. Peterson, 100 Wn.2d 

788, 791, 674 P.2d 1251 (1984) (legislature presumed to have 

enacted laws with knowledge of existing regulations).12 

Finally, Legacy's legislative history discussion, highlighting 

references to both the treasurer and assessor in the current version 

of RCW 84.48.065, makes no point that the County does not readily 

concede: manifest error authority is generally not a vehicle for 

revising value based upon a renewed exercise of appraisal 

judgment. 13 Matters that can, however, be remedied under this 

section have, from the outset, included clerical errors and other 

12 The notion that there may be instances where it may be more difficult to 
determine whether a potential assessment change involves exercise of appraisal 
judgment does not support Legacy's position that applicable rules should be 
ignored. The undisputed facts in this case plainly reveal that no exercise of 
appraisal judgment was involved in removing the computer hold and listing 
without change the 2009 assessed values that were previously determined for 
Legacy's properties. Even in cases where the determination was less clear, the 
usual interpretation rules would still apply. 

13 In any event, Legacy reads far too much into the "treasurer" and "assessor" 
references in its first sentence of RCW 84.48.065. These references merely 
acknowledge that each officer may correct those enumerated manifest errors that 
are within its respective, lawful function to correct. They are not intended to 
suggest either that the office's authority is expanded to allow either to undertake 
any of the corrections listed or that the nature of specified corrections should be 
narrowed such that either officer could perform them all. 
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errors in the listing of property that do not involve revaluation of 

property, such as that which occurred in this case. 

Legacy's overly constricted view of the Assessor' manifest 

error correction authority is at odds with the plain language of the 

statute and seriously undermines the fundamental purpose of RCW 

84.48.065 to allow assessment corrections to be made where, as in 

this instance, the ministerial revision is made based upon existing 

records of value that erroneously failed to post. 

2. Manifest error authority not governed by omit statute 

Legacy incorrectly argues that 2009 manifest error corrections 

under RCW 84.48.065 are prohibited because they would not be 

allowed under RCW 84.40.080's omitted value authority. To be clear, 

King County does not rely in any respect upon such omit authority to 

support the manifest error corrections at issue in this case. Legacy's 

2009 corrections are justified based solely upon the Assessor's 

entirely separate authority to correct manifest errors in the 

assessment roll, granted by the Legislature in RCW 84.48.065. 

Legacy's argument that "omit" limitations in RCW 84.40.080 

restrict the Assessor's authority to correct manifest errors under RCW 

84.48.065 finds no support in the statutes themselves. Certainly, 

there is no language in either RCW 84.40.080 (omitted value) or 
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RCW 84.48.065 (manifest error corrections) that even remotely 

suggests such a cross-limitation is intended. 

Legacy's effort to graft omit restrictions onto the assessor's 

manifest error authority is similarly unsupported by any court decision 

construing such matters. Legacy's reliance on Tradewel/ Stores is 

misplaced. Tradewel/ affirmed the principal that exercise of omit 

authority under RCW 84.40.080 is limited to instances where no 

value had initially been placed upon the property. Tradewel/ Stores 

v. Snohomish County, 69 Wn.2d 353, 418 P.2d 466 (1966).14 King 

County has no quarrel with the holding in Tradewel/ -- or with any 

legislative decision to modify or not modify the omit statute that was 

construed in that case. The case, however, makes no mention of, 

and does not purport to interpret, the separate and distinct manifest 

error provision relied upon by the County in this case. 

Legacy makes a further, logically strained argument that omit 

limitations should apply in a manifest error context because there 

may be instances where the two assessment correction authorities 

overlap. At the outset, it is clear that the circumstances of this case 

14 In Tradewell, the grocery firm had razed several houses upon its property and 
erected a modern supermarket. The assessor, however, continued to value the 
property on the basis of its former improvements, the houses. The assessor then 
attempted to revalue the property pursuant to RCW 84.40.080 and change prior 
years' taxes, claiming that the new property, the supermarket, had been omitted 
from a real estate assessment. Id. ' 
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do not present such an overlap -- and that, even if they did, the 

taxpayer would be responsible for paying property tax on the correct 

value under one theory or the other. 

There is no conflict between the manifest error and omit 

statutes that requires any extraordinary, reconciled interpretation of 

the plain language of these separate laws. The two statutes address 

entirely different circumstances and criteria and are therefore readily 

harmonized. Exercise of omit authority is justified only where value 

had been entirely omitted from the tax roll. RCW 84.40.080. By 

contrast, exercise of manifest error authority is allowed only where 

there has been 

an error in listing or assessment, which does not involve a 
revaluation of property, including the following: ... (b) A clerical 
or posting error; ... or 0) Any other error which can be 
corrected by reference to the records and valuation methods 
applied to similarly situated properties, without exercising 
appraisal judgment. 

WAC 458-14-005 (14). While it is conceivable that there may be an 

instance in which a particular value was entirely omitted from the tax 

roll due to a clerical error (and would therefore be theoretically 

correctable on either omit or manifest error ground), such a possibility 

does not logically support Legacy's argument that omit limitations in 
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RCW 84.40.080 should govern manifest error corrections under RCW 

84.48.065.15 

Legacy's argument regarding the fairness or sensibility of 

providing manifest error correction authority that is, in some 

respects 16, broader than omit valuation restrictions amounts to little 

more than a debatable position of policy that is more appropriately 

addressed to the legislative branch. Certainly, from a fairness 

perspective, if manifest errors were not correctable in the manner 

described by RCW 84.48.065, the taxpayer whose property was 

manifestly undervalued would realize an unintended windfall - in this 

case, in the hundreds of thousands of dollars. That unpaid property 

tax burden would accordingly shift to other taxpayers (who would, as 

a result, be saddled with a larger percentage of the total property 

value upon which property taxes are allocated).17 Moreover, under 

15 If such a circumstance were to arise where corrective action could be justified 
under either a manifest error or omit basis, the Assessor would simply apply one 
or the other authority, likely utilizing the procedure that is least onerous to the 
taxpayer. CP 303 at fn.4. 

16 Authority to correct omitted assessments is, in some respects, significantly 
broader than manifest error correction authority. For example, while manifest 
error corrections do not generally involve exercise of appraisal judgment, omitted 
assessments do. RCW 84.40.080 

17 Under Washington's budget-based property tax system, an individual property 
owner's tax burden is essentially based on his or her relative percentage share of 
the overall property value owned. As such, each person's property tax is 
marginally affected by increases or decreases in the assessed value of other 
taxpayers. 
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Legacy's approach, the taxpayer whose property was manifestly 

overvalued would suffer unfair tax burdens that the legislature plainly 

sought to avoid. Taking, for example, the inverse of Legacy's 

immediate situation, if a property-owner's tax bill incorrectly listed 

multi-million dollar improvement value on a parcel whose structures 

were actually valued by assessment staff at $1,000, Legacy's reading 

would preclude an Assessor from correcting the mistake as a 

manifest error under RCW 84.48.065. 

Omit correction authority under RCW 84.40.080 is separate 

and distinct from the manifest error authority that was exercised in 

this case. Because the Assessor's 2009 manifest error correction 

occurred in accordance with RCW 84.48.065, dismissal of Legacy's 

refund 2009 property tax refund claim should be affirmed. 

D. 2010 Assessment Revisions Occurring Prior to 
Close of the 2010 Assessment Roll Were Not Time
barred. 

With respect to Legacy's challenged 2010 assessments, 

because the incorrect placeholder value of $1,000 had not yet 

changed in the Assessor's computer appraisal system until after 

January 1, 2010, the erroneous $1,000 placeholder value continued 

to incorrectly roll forward in the system and automatically printed out 

on valuation notices that were initially provided to Legacy for 
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assessment year 2010. CP 206 - 7 at ~ 16 and CP 262. An 

administrative correction, setting forth the actual improvement values 

of $13,997,400 and $15,433,300 was, however, properly posted on 

November 3, 2010, prior to certification of the 2010 assessment roll in 

December of 2010. CP 207 ~ 17; CP 264-65. Updated notices of 

value, that included the correct assessments, were then sent to 

Legacy on November 11,2010. CP 208 at ~ 18 and CP 267. 

Even though these 2010 assessment corrections were 

implemented prior to close of the assessment rolls in December of 

2010, Legacy has challenge their revised 2010 assessment based 

upon argument that revisions to the initial $1,000 improvement values 

were untimely under RCW 84.40.040. 

Legacy incorrectly argues that the County was precluded from 

making these corrections after the May 31 sl dates specified in RCW 

84.40.040 and RCW 36.21 .080 for completing the duties of listing 

and placing valuations on property. The Washington Supreme Court 

has made clear, however, that the timelines in RCW 84.40.040 are 

not mandatory deadlines for finalizing assessments. 

[W]e cannot conceive that the legislature intended, in 
specifying the times at which assessment actions should be 
taken, to make the validity of the assessment depend upon 
strict compliance with those provisions. Even more than in 
the case of Spokane County ex reI. Sullivan v. Glover, supra, 
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the effect of such an interpretation would be to undermine 
the taxing system of the State, for we are told that the 
Clallam County Assessor does not stand alone in his inability 
to meet such deadlines, but rather it is a problem of many 
county assessors throughout the state. 

We are shown no reason to suppose that the legislature 
attached special significance to the time schedule which it 
laid out in these statutes. The interest of the State is in 
seeing that the assessments are made before the year in 
which the taxes are levied, which was done in this case. 

Nor are these provisions designed to protect any interest of 
the taxpayer. The right which he is given is that of obtaining 
a review of the assessment if he questions its validity. There 
appears no reason why that review cannot be had as 
effectively in November as in August. The appellants have 
not shown that any right or interest of theirs has been 
adversely affected. 

To read these provisions as mandatory would gravely 
disserve the interests of this State and its people and would 
protect no. right of any individual. The purpose of the taxing 
statutes would be effectively thwarted. Consequently, we 
cannot attribute to the legislature an intent to use the word 
"shall" in this context, in its mandatory sense. 

Niiche/ v. Lancaster, 97 Wn.2d 620, 626-627, 647 P.2d 1021, 1024 

(1982). 

There is no ·merit to Legacy's argument that, unlike RCW 

84.40.080, the new construction timelines in RCW 36.21.080 

should be construed as mandatory rather than directive. RCW 

36.21.080 is expressly referenced in RCW 84.40.040, with no 

indication of any intent to distinguish between the directory nature of 
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the specified timelines for determining regular and new construction 

values. 

The assessor shall begin the preliminary work for each 
assessment not later than the first day of December of each 
year in all counties in the state. The assessor shall also 
complete the duties of listing and placing valuations on all 
property by May 31 st of each year, except that the listing 
and valuation of construction and mobile homes under RCW 
36.21 .080 and 36.21 .090 shall be completed by August 31st 
of each year. 

RCW 84.40.040 (emphasis added). The "shall also complete" 

language in this section, construed by the Court in Niichel to be 

directory, is the same as the "shall be completed" language in this 

section that applies to the valuation of new construction under the 

cross-referenced RCW 36.21.080. 

There is likewise nothing in the language of RCW 36.21 .080 

itself, that purports to establish a mandatory deadline that differs 

from the other directory timelines in RCW 84.04.040. Like RCW 

84.40.040, RCW 36.21.080 is worded as an affirmative description 

of assessor power, rather than as a prohibition on its exercise. 

Compare RCW 84.04.040 ("assessor shall ... complete the duties 

of listing and placing valuations on all property by May 31 st.') with 

RCW 36.21.080 ("county assessor is authorized to [place new 

construction value] on the assessment rolls ... up to August 31 st of 
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each year.). Both statutes serve the purpose of prescribing the 

procedure to be followed in making assessments and do not 

purport to limit the taxing power. See Niichel, 97 Wn.2d at 624 

(directory nature of words that are affirmative, and relate to the 

manner in which the power or jurisdiction is to be exercised).18 

Significantly, the directory timelines in RCW 84.40.040 and 

new construction timelines in RCW 36.40.040, cross-referenced 

therein, were adopted in the same legislative act. See 1982 Wash. 

Laws, 1st Ex.Sess. at Ch. 46 §§ 4 and 5. It would be particularly 

unusual to apply a different meaning to closely worded timelines 

established in the same act. Presumably, the Legislature intended 

these provisions to be read consistently. See State v. S.P., 110 

Wn.2d 886, 890, 756 P.2d 1315 (1988) (statutes must be read in 

harmony with other statutes enacted as part of same act). 

None of the cases cited by Legacy supports its position that 

new construction timelines should be construed as jurisdictional 

18 None of the multiple amendments to RCW 84.40.040 and RCW 36.21.080 that 
have occurred since Niichel reveals any legislative intent transform the directory 
nature of any of the specified tax assessment timelines into a mandatory 
deadlines. See Broom v. Morgan Stanley, 169 Wn.2d 231, 238, 236 P.3d 182, 
185 (2010)('''[t]he Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretation of 
its enactments,' and where statutory language remains unchanged after a court 
decision the court will not overrule clear precedent interpreting the same 
statutory language. 'n) . 
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deadlines. See Erection Co. v. Department of Labor and Industries, 

121 Wn.2d 513, 853 P.2d 288 (1993) (agency lacked jurisdiction to 

consider appeal filed after specific statutory appeal deadline); State 

ex reI. Linn v. Superior Court of King County, 20 Wn.2d 138, 146 

P.2d 543 (1944) (mandamus inappropriate to compel placement of 

charter amendment before voters when petition was not filed within

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